1971

## **The State of Utah v. Weldon Bassett And Judy Bassett : Brief of Appellants**

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is a criminal action charging the defendants and each of them with Involuntary Manslaughter for the death of their minor child.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Jury found both defendants guilty of Involuntary Manslaughter.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek a reversal of the Jury verdict of guilty of Manslaughter as a matter of law and fact or that failing, remanding the case to the District Court for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Weldon and Judy Bassett are the parents of Erica Jean Bassett, who was approximately fifteen months old at the time of death. Prior to birth and during the time Erica was alive Judy Bassett was industrially and legally blind with visual acuity of less than twenty-four hundred with complaints of double vision and distortion; her depth of perception bad. (Tr 137, lines 23 through 30; Tr 138, lines 1 through 27; Tr 139, lines 1 through 30; and Tr. 140, lines 1 through 19; Tr 142, lines 15 through 20.) Judy subsequently received a corneal transplant to one eye with another to be performed on the other eye.

On September 11, 1970, defendant Judy Bassett gave birth to the daughter, Erica Jean Bassett, at the St. Benedict's Hospital in Ogden, Utah. The birth was a breach birth, with the fanny coming first and the body doubled and bent. A breach birth is not normal and it is not uncommon for a child to be injured during such birth with broken bones and head injuries. (Tr 10, lines 5 through 30; Tr 11, lines 1 through 30; Tr 30; lines 19 through 30; and Tr 31, lines 1 through 36.).

Dr. Rogers was the doctor in attendance at the time of said birth, and had been the Bassetts' doctor since the time of the birth of their son, prior to the birth of Erica, and stated he had never had any reason to believe the defendants had ever abused their older son or Erica—that they seemed to be loving and devoted parents during all the time he knew them. They seemed to be kind and solicitous parents. (Tr 43, lines 10 through 30.) All who knew Weldon and Judy Bassett testified that

they seemed to love children very much and could not mistreat their own children—Weldon's mother (Tr 217, lines 11 through 20.); his brother Earl Dean (Tr 230, lines 8 through 16; Tr. 236, lines 1 through 6) his sister Mary Jean (Tr. 243 lines 9 through 30; Tr. 245 lines 11 through 27; Tr. 256 lines 16 through 18); Judy's father, Newton Glen (Tr. 258; lines 12 through 29.): her brother, Ronald J. (Tr. 263, lines 14 through 19).

Evidence showed that ever since birth the child seemed to be in constant great pain, cried a great deal and did not seem to be a normal happy, healthy child, (Tr 153, lines 2 through 27; Tr 173, lines 5 through 15; Tr 177, lines 1 through 30; Tr 219, lines 3 through 19; Tr 233, lines 5 through 17; Tr 246, lines 2 through 24; Tr 264, lines 7 through 22.) This would seem to show Erica had received painful and serious injuries at birth.

On November 8th, 1970, Erica was taken to the McKay-Dee Hospital where she was suffering from convulsions and mild fever. (Tr 14, lines 6 through 30; Tr 15, lines 1 through 30; Tr 16, lines 1 through 30.) Dr. Rogers examined the child, had a brain and spinal tap performed and found traces of blood from the brain and spinal tap, but indicated that such might have resulted from the physical action of taking such a tap. (Tr 17, lines 5 through 30; Tr 18, lines 1 through 6; and Tr 20, lines 6 through 25.) The child was subsequently released from the hospital after no emergency care and ac-

ording to the Doctor in excellent health. (Tr 22, lines 25 through 30; Tr 23, lines 1 through 27.) On November 24, 1970, the child was taken to the St. Benedict's Hospital where it was pronounced dead, with no visible evidence of any injuries or bruises. (Tr 25, lines 5 through 30.) The father, Weldon Bassett, willingly consented to an autopsy, or at least attempted so to do. (Tr 168, lines 19 through 28.) An autopsy was in fact performed where it was found that the child, Erica, had died from acute and chronic subdural hematoma no skull fractures or bruises on head was ever found. (Tr 78, lines 3 through 9.)

The defendant Weldon Bassett was accused of the crime of Involuntary Manslaughter in one action, and the defendant Judy Bassett was also accused of Involuntary Manslaughter in another cause, which said causes were then joined and tried together. The case was tried before the Trial Court. The defendants moved for a dismissal at the conclusion of the State's case, which Motion was denied; defendants submitted testimony and the matter was placed in the hands of the jury, which returned a verdict of guilty for both defendants. (Tr 269, lines 28 through 30; and Tr 220, lines 1 through 5.)

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DISMISS THE STATE'S CASE AGAINST BOTH DEFENDANTS AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE STATE'S EVIDENCE.

At the conclusion of the State's case, defendants moved the Court for an Order dismissing the complaints

against each of them for Involuntary Manslaughter, which Motion was denied by said Trial Court. Defendants contend that this denial was in error. At the conclusion of the State's case the only evidence adduced was that the defendants Weldon and Judy Bassett were the parents of one Erica Bassett; that Erica subsequently died on November 24th, 1970, being approximately two and one-half months old. The State further showed that Erica had insignificant bruises upon her arms and body, the only injuries visible to the eye, but upon completion of an autopsy Erica was found to have had broken ribs and subdural hematoma. Nothing more was introduced by the State to show that either Weldon or Judy had committed any act causing the injuries resulting in the death of Erica. As a matter of fact, the State's witness, Dr. Rogers, indicated that he had known the defendants since the birth of their first child; that at all times the defendants had shown love and affection for not only Erica but for their older child and that he had no reason to suspect or believe that either of them had ever abused Erica or their older son and that they seemed to be loving and devoted parents.

The State's evidence also indicated that brain taps had been performed on the child, which could have caused subdural hematoma; that the child Erica was born breach, which could have resulted in broken bones and head injuries; that there are many and various reasons for subdural hematoma: falling from bed or couch, blow, shaking, accidental blow, veins severed by brain tap and many other reasons, with only evidence being that of a spinal tap, Judy accidentally bumping baby's



head on crib and Erica's brother playing roughly around her with toy wheels, and this is all. The State had failed to show that either Judy or Weldon Bassett ever struck Erica or had ever abused her in any way. There was no visible evidence of a blow to her head. There was no act nor intent offered into evidence by the State as defined in our Statute, Tile 76-1-20, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Even assuming all of the evidence to be true and held most strongly as against the defendants, there is absolutely no such evidence to submit the case to the Jury and the trial Court should have dismissed the action as against Judy and Weldon Bassett; the Court erred in refusing to dismiss.

## POINT II

### THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY RENDERED BY THE JURY AGAINST DEFENDANTS.

This action was originally filed in two separate causes by the State of Utah, charging each of the defendants singularly with the commission of the crime of Involuntary Manslaughter as defined by our Statute 76-30-5, Utah Code Annotated 1953, a pertinent part which is set forth as follows:

“(2) Involuntary in the commission of an unlawful act not amounting to a felony or in the commission of a lawful act which might produce death in an unlawful manner or without due caution and circumspection.”

A careful review of the transcript of the trial pro-

ceedings nowhere reflects any act or omission of either of the defendants which could convict under our Statute. To the contrary, from the testimony of the child's doctor, Dr. Rogers, the Bassetts seem to be kind and solicitous parents, very much interested in the welfare of Erica Jean and their other child, with no evidence or hint at all of any propensity toward abuse. There is absolutely no other evidence of any act or omission as required by the Statute. Without exception all witnesses who knew both Weldon and Judy Bassett stated that both of them seemed to love this child and their other child very greatly, was always with them, was always showing them attention and were concerned with the welfare of Erica. There is no evidence of a pattern of child abuse—drinking or temper tantrums that is almost universally present in almost every child abuse case.

On one instance the defendant, Weldon Bassett, stated that the child Erica had a bump on her head when the defendant, Judy Bassett, who was for all purposes legally blind, attempted to lift Erica from the bed to place her in the crib, which was adjacent to the bed. This is the only evidence that either of the defendants ever did anything to hurt Erica and this is certainly not an act as contemplated by the Statute. It is an unfortunate accident resulting from a condition beyond the control of either of the defendants.

Another aspect of this case, apparently ignored by the Jury, was the fact that the testimony of Weldon Bassett and a number of witnesses who knew Erica from her birth indicated that something seemed to be wrong with her, that she seemed to be in constant terrible pain and

cried in a manner not consistent with the normal child, which would certainly indicate that there is some question as to Erica's being rather seriously injured at birth. The State's expert witness, Dr. Rogers, and the testimony of the pathologist was in part completely contradictory. Dr. Rogers stated they found no evidence of injury to Erica at any time, but the pathologist stated that the ribs were broken possibly as far back as birth. Either Dr. Rogers did not examine carefully or he missed these injuries. The same is true with respect to the hematoma.

The child's doctor, Dr. Rogers, testified that Erica was born breach, in other words, fanny first. The Doctor further testified that it is not uncommon for bones to be broken and injuries to occur in such a breach birth. This would seem to be consistent with the evidence that Erica was in considerable pain from the birth on and could account for many of the injuries as determined by the autopsy. It would be further entirely consistent that in the handling of Erica these injuries that could have been caused at birth would be aggravated even with normal handling and would cause the chronic, painful crying. It should be noted further, that with respect to the injuries to the brain, such could have occurred when the child's head was bumped against the crib or possibly bumped by accident on any other occasion. Dr. Weston stated babies of this age have been known to roll over and fall, causing such brain damage and death.

Defendants' minor son squeezed Erica and threw his toy made out of wheels around the home, which could have struck and injured Erica. It was further testified

to that two brain taps were performed on Erica at the time she was first taken into the hospital for examination, and that it is possible that injuries could have occurred by the needle passing into the skull into the area between the skull and the brain itself, which could puncture veins and cause bleeding. The bruises testified to by Dr. Rogers were all indicated to be minimal and normal bruises which you would probably find on a youngster that size and age, and none contributed to the baby's death.

Once again defendants respectfully submit that there is absolutely no evidence in the record at all showing any act of any specific nature by either of the defendants upon which to base a finding of guilty. The defendant, Weldon Bassett, was not shown to have committed any act whatsoever, accidentally or otherwise. The defendant, Judy Bassett, accidentally bumped the child's head in an attempt to place the child in its crib. The defendants respectfully submit that the Jury disregarded the evidence and instructions and based their verdict solely upon biased prejudice or in the heat of passion.

### POINT III

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBER 8, SETTING OUT THE ELEMENTS TO BE FOUND BY THE JURY TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANTS OF THE CRIME OF INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER.**

The Appellants and Defendants objected to the Court giving Instruction Number 8 at the conference of the Trial Judge and counsel, prior to the giving of the

instructions and exception was taken to the said instruction after the instructions were given to the Jury. Instruction objected to is as follows:

“No. 8

Before you can convince the defendant of the crime of Involuntary Manslaughter you must find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, all of the following elements of that crime.

1. That Erica Bassett was the lawful child of the defendant under consideration and as such the defendant was under an obligation to provide ordinary protection. The protection that a parent must provide need not be of exceptional or extra careful or unusually wise type of protection, but need only be in accordance with community minimal acceptable standards.

2. That Erica Bassett died as a result of head injuries caused by trauma and that the trauma was administered while there existed a child-parent relationship with the defendant under consideration on or about the date alleged.

3. That the parent under consideration failed to provide minimal protection for the child and because of such failure the child received the trauma that resulted in its death. A parent is not a guarantor of the safety of a child but is required to use ordinary reasonable care. The criminal law does not punish a parent for negligent care of a child unless that negligence is so gross as to amount to a wilful disregard for the consequences and it must be under circumstances containing no

satisfactory excuse. While a parent may under many circumstances reasonably trust the other parent to provide protection, neither parent may totally shift the duty to the other unless the circumstances appear to warrant such confidence.

If you believe that the evidence establishes each and all of the essential elements of the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt, it is your duty to convict the defendant. On the other hand, if the evidence has failed to so establish one or more of said elements then you should find the defendant not guilty.”

The Statute under which the defendants are charged is as follows: Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

76-30-5 Manslaughter defined — Manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being without malice. It is of two kinds: (1) (Not applicable) (2) Involuntary in the commission of an unlawful act not amounting to a felony or in the commission of a lawful act which might produce death in an unlawful manner or without due caution and circumspection.

The defendants requested the court to give an instruction based upon this definition but the Court refused to do so.

The Instruction that was given does not reflect the wording nor the intent under which the defendants and each of them were charged. There is no mention of the requirement to find that the defendants committed an un-

lawful act not amounting to a felony, nor that the defendants committed a lawful act which might produce death in an unlawful manner or without due caution and circumspection. The Statute clearly requires one of these elements to fall within the purview of such Manslaughter Statute. An extensive search of the cases decided by this Court, based upon the Statute in question, reveals nowhere any authority for the type of Instruction that was given. State v Lancaster, 20 U (2d) 80, 433 P2d 312 et seq: Most of the other cases cited by the Supreme Court were involved with automobile homicide.

This Instruction further was improper under the circumstances because there was no evidence of negligence on the part of either of the defendants upon which to base the Instruction. A careful review of the transcript reveals no evidence of any negligence whatsoever. Another reason that said Instruction was improper was the fact that the Court did not instruct the Jury that any trauma which might have caused the death must have been administered by either one or both of the said defendants, and under paragraph two (2) of said Instructions merely indicated that if the trauma was administered while there existed a child-parent relationship with the defendants, this would be sufficient. We submit that under our Statute the trauma must have been administered by either one or the other or both of the said defendants to convict either or both of the said offense. The Instruction as given was prejudicial for the above reasons and does not reflect the necessary and essential elements of the crime in order to convict.

## CONCLUSION

Defendants and each of them represent that the conviction of both of them of the crime of Involuntary Manslaughter was not supported by the facts or by the law, and that errors committed during the time of the trial were prejudicial. There was never shown any act or intent as is required by our Statutes and Court decisions. There was never shown any neglect even to support a conviction under the improper Instruction Number 8. The case did in fact involve a fact situation which would tend to give rise to a great deal of sympathy and passion, which they submit did in fact influence the Jury and did result in the conviction.

We further respectfully submit that it is not incumbent upon the defendants to prove themselves innocent, it is incumbent upon the State to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt which they submit was not done in this matter.

Defendants conclude that based upon the law and facts produced in this case the Jury's decision should be reversed and the defendants and each of them found not guilty, or this failing, remanding this case to the lower Court for a new trial.