1971

The State of Utah v. Weldon Bassett And Judy Bassett : Brief of Respondents

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a criminal action charging the defendants and each of them with Involuntary Manslaughter for the death of their minor child.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Jury found both defendants guilty of Involuntary Manslaughter.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks to have this Court affirm the judgment of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Weldon and Judy were the parents of Erica Jean Bassett, who was approximately two and one-half months old at the time of her death (T. 133-34).

On September 11, 1970, Judy Bassett gave birth to a daughter, Erica Jean Bassett, at St. Benedict's Hospital in Ogden, Utah. The baby was a breech birth, buttocks first, but this was only a moderate problem (T. 120). Dr. Rogers delivered the baby and testified it was not injured and was a normal healthy baby (T. 121). Dr. Rogers further testified the child was healthy, normal and was growing at its third week and sixth week checkups.

On November 8, 1970, the child was brought into the pediatrics ward at McKay Hospital with a fever and convulsions (T. 123). There were bruises around the ear of the child (T. 124). The child had lost weight since its sixth week checkup (T. 128) and was kept in the hospital four days (T. 131). Dr. Rogers testified the problem of a battered child presented itself and under the law the doctors filled out forms to report the matter to the police (T. 131). They even tried to have the Juvenile Court intervene and relieve the family of responsibility of the child but were unsuccessful in doing so (T. 131). The child was released to the parents but on November

24, 1970, the child was admitted to St. Benedict's Hospital (T. 136). The child was dead.

An autopsy was performed on the child. The autopsy showed five fractures involving four ribs (T. 171), three brain injuries, perhaps six bruises, (T. 175-185) on the chest and both arms (T. 170).

The Appellants, Weldon and Judy Bassett were accused and convicted of the crime of Involuntary Manslaughter. It is from this conviction the Appellants are appealing.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO GO TO THE JURY AND TO SUSTAIN THE JURY'S VERDICT.

Involuntary Manslaughter as defined by Utah Code Ann. § 76-30-5(2) (1953) is as follows:

“(2) Involuntary in the commission of an unlawful act not amounting to a felony or in the commission of a lawful act which might produce death in an unlawful manner or without due caution and circumspection.”

Utah case law defining the meaning is sparse. However, in *State v. Lingman*, 97 Utah 180, 91 P. 2d 457 (1939), an automobile homicide case, this Court outlined the statute and its meaning. The first part of the statute

“an unlawful act not amounting to a felony” was defined by the Court when it stated:

“We think the ‘unlawful act’ that is, the infraction must be done in such a manner as to more than constitute a mere thoughtless omission or slight deviation from the norm of prudent conduct.” 91 P. 2d at 466.

In *State v. Peterson*, 116 Utah 362, 210 P. 2d 299 (1949), this Court added:

“We also stated therein that the ‘unlawful act’ must be ‘reckless or in marked disregard for the safety of others.’ The implication is that the nature of the unlawful act must be such that it has the potentialities of injury to others.” 210 P. 2d at 230-1.

An analysis of the meaning of these cases and the law derived therefrom show that an “unlawful act” may be a significant omission or a deviation from the norm of prudent conduct and it must be such that it has the potentialities of injury to others.

The second part of the statute which states, the commission of a lawful act which might produce death (1) done in an unlawful manner, or (2) done without due caution and circumspection was explained in *Lingman*, supra, when it stated:

“The distinct characteristic . . . is that the act must be one which has knowable and apparent potentialities for resulting in death. If such an act is done in an unlawful manner or without due care and circumspection, the criminal negligence is present.” 91 P. 2d at 466.

Criminal negligence was defined by the court in *Howard v. State*, 88 Okl. Cr. 4, 199 P. 2d 240 (1948), as “the omission to do something which a reasonable or prudent person would do, or the doing of something which such person would not do under the circumstances surrounding the particular case.” 199 P. 2d at 244.

In the case at bar, the trial court judge looked at the evidence presented by the prosecution. This evidence consisted of at least three brain injuries, perhaps as many as six, but at least four broken ribs, bruises on the chest, bruises on both arms, the child was in convulsions as a result of injury on the 8th of November and new injuries resulted in the death of the child by November 25th (T. 242).

The judge stated the parents had to exercise reasonable ordinary care to protect their children and the failure to do this if it reached gross proportions would be enough to convict the parents (T. 242-3). The case was then submitted to the jury. No positive act is required, only the omission to positively protect their children as is their responsibility.

The defendants testified they had almost exclusive control of the child from the time of its birth with some minor exceptions (T. 304). Even on the minor occasions, there was testimony they didn't notice anything unusual about the child (T. 304). Any injury that occurred to the infant would have to have occurred while the parents were responsible according to their own testimony.

Whether or not an omission or deviation from the norm of prudent conduct existed to convict the defendants of Involuntary Manslaughter rested with the jury.

Appellant claims there was no act nor intent offered into evidence as required by Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-20 (1953). The respondent has shown that no positive act need occur but an omission may constitute the unlawful act in Involuntary Manslaughter cases. Also Involuntary Manslaughter involves an unintentional killing, therefore, Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-20 (1953) is not applicable. This Court in *State v. Cobo*, 90 Utah 89, 60 P. 2d 952 (1936), in a Voluntary Manslaughter case held the killing must be intentional or wilful whereas an unintentional killing results in Involuntary Manslaughter. 60 P. 2d at 956.

Appellants further allege the evidence does not support the jury verdict of guilty. Appellants point out many things that remotely could have caused the injuries.

Appellants ignored the expert testimony of Dr. Rogers to the effect the child suffered from high temperatures, loss of weight, bruises and convulsions (T. 123-126). Dr. Rogers further testified that he and two other doctors (Dr. Grant Way and Dr. James Hansen) tried to get the Juvenile Court to intervene and relieve the family of the responsibility of caring for the child until the injuries were clarified (T. 131).

Dr. Weston testified as to the bruises, fractures and hematomas on the child (T. 165-185). Dr. Weston fur-

ther testified he believed these injuries were caused by a person or persons (T. 188) and he found no other cause of death (T. 188-189).

Dr. Grunnet testified as to the severity of the subdural hematomas (T. 215-225).

There was other evidence presented that the child was normal, healthy and happy while in the hospital on its third and six week checkups and during the period following November 8th.

This is not an intentional crime but one of negligence. One where the parents have failed to provide the due caution and circumsection necessary to insure the life of a small infant.

The evidence was more than mere speculation and it was properly submitted to the jury for its determination. According to well settled rules of law it is within the province of the jury to determine from all the facts and circumstances surrounding the death of the infant whether there was sufficient negligence as to render the appellants guilty.

This Court has upheld this theory in *State v. Read*, 121 Utah 453, 243 P. 2d 439 (1952), in deciding a case wherein defendant was convicted of Involuntary Manslaughter, held:

“The evidence, admittedly conflicting, and therefore a jury question unless reasonable minds could arrive at no conclusion other than that there was no criminal negligence, was obviously such that a

jury reasonably could have concluded that a defendant's conduct was of that type required to justify conviction on grounds of criminal negligence." 243 P. 2d at 440.

Reasonable minds could not arrive at only a conclusion there was no criminal negligence, therefore, this case was properly submitted to the jury for its verdict and ample evidence existed for the conviction returned by the jury.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 8, SETTING FORTH THE ELEMENTS TO BE FOUND BY THE JURY IN ORDER TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANTS OF INVOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER.

Instruction No. 8 as given to the jury is as follows:

"No. 8

Before you can convict the defendant of the crime of Involuntary Manslaughter you must find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, all of the following elements of that crime.

1. That Erica Bassett was the lawful child of the defendant under consideration and as such the defendant was under an obligation to provide ordinary protection. The protection that a parent must provide need not be of exceptional or extra careful or unusually wise type of protection, but need only be in accordance with community minimal acceptable standards.

2. That Erica Bassett died as a result of head injuries caused by trauma and that the trauma was administered while there existed a child-parent relationship with the defendant under consideration on or about the date alleged.

3. That the parent under consideration failed to provide minimal protection for the child and because of such failure the child received the trauma that resulted in its death. A parent is not a guarantor of the safety of a child but is required to use ordinary reasonable care. The criminal law does not punish a parent for negligent care of a child unless that negligence is so gross as to amount to wilful disregard for the consequences and it must be under circumstances containing no satisfactory excuse. While a parent may under many circumstances reasonably trust the other parent to provide protection, neither parent may totally shift the duty to the other unless the circumstances appear to warrant such confidence.

If you believe that the evidence establishes each and all of the essential elements of the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt, it is your duty to convict the defendant. On the other hand, if the evidence has failed to so establish one or more of said elements then you should find the defendant not guilty."

Appellants' contention is that there was no mention of a requirement given that defendants committed an unlawful act. The major fact appellants overlook is that the whole instruction goes to an omission that in and of itself is an unlawful act. That is, the appellants failed to provide the requisite care to protect the life of their child and are therefore grossly negligent. This is in com-

plete agreement with the wording of the statute as is shown in Point I. Appellants had complete control of their child at all times, thus any injury had to occur while there existed a child-parent relationship. Whether there occurred a lawful act by appellants which might have produced death in an unlawful manner or without due circumspection was properly submitted to a jury for its determination.

The instruction was properly given by the court and was in harmony with the intent and meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 76-30-5(2) (1953).

CONCLUSION

The evidence was sufficient to submit the case to a jury and allow them to find that the appellants were responsible for the death of their child while committing an unlawful act not amounting to a felony or in the commission of a lawful act which might produce death in an unlawful manner or without due caution and circumspection.

The trial court correctly denied appellants' motion for a directed verdict.

Instruction No. 8 concerning the elements necessary to find the appellants guilty of Involuntary Manslaughter was properly given by the trial court and is consistent

with the meaning and intent of the law.

It is respectfully submitted that the verdict of the jury and the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.